IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

No. S253227	
Court of Anneal No. A 136451	
Court of Appear No. A130431	
San Francisco County	
No. SCN206013	\
(CRC	,)
\8.25 (t)]) <i>[</i>
SUPREME COURT	
FILED	
ment of MAY 1 5 2019	
of California Jorge Nava rrete Clerk Francisco	,
Deputy	
e Massullo	
ne o F	No. SCN206013 CRC 8.25(£ SUPREME COURT FILED MAY 1 5 2019 MAY 1 5 2019 Jorge Navarrete Clerk Francisco Deputy

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

John Ward Attorney at Law 584 Castro Street, Suite 802 San Francisco, California 94114 (415) 255-4996 State Bar No. 102449

Counsel for Appellant by Appointment of the California Supreme Court.

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON REVIEW

"Were the enhancements imposed under Penal Code section 12022.53, subdivision (e), improperly imposed as to counts 3 through 7 because the prosecution did not specifically plead a violation of this subdivision as to those counts? (See *People v. Mancebo* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 735.)" (Order Granting Review, March 13, 2019)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

By an amended information filed April 12, 2011, appellant was charged with ten felony counts as follows:

- Count 1: Murder of Zachary Roche-Balsam. (Pen. Code¹, § 187.) It was further alleged that appellant personally used a firearm during the commission of the offense (§ 12022.5, subd. (a)(1)); that a principal in the offense personally and intentionally discharged a firearm which proximately caused death (§ 12022.53, subds. (d) & (e)); and that the offense was committed for the benefit of a criminal street gang (§ 186.22, subd. (b)(1)(C)).
- Count 2: Active participation in a criminal street gang. (§ 186.22, subd. (a).)
- Count 3: Second degree robbery of Bella Kizziah. (§ 212.5, subd. (c).)

 It was further alleged that appellant personally used a firearm in the commission of the offense (§§ 12022.5, subd. (a)(1), 12022.53, subd. (b)); and that the offense was committed for the benefit of a criminal street gang (§ 186.22, subd. (b)(1)(C)).
- Count 4: Second degree robbery of Yana Peselev. (§ 212.5, subd. (c).)

 It was further alleged that appellant personally used a firearm in the commission of the offense (§§ 12022.5, subd. (a)(1),

¹ Subsequent unspecified statutory references are to the Penal Code.

12022.53, subd. (b)); and that the offense was committed for the benefit of a criminal street gang (§ 186.22, subd. (b)(1)(C)).

Count 5: Attempted second degree robbery of Ryan Williams. (§§ 664/212.5, subd. (c).) It was further alleged that appellant personally used a firearm in the commission of the offense (§§ 12022.5, subd. (a)(1), 12022.53, subd. (b)); and that the offense was committed for the benefit of a criminal street gang (§ 186.22, subd. (b)(1)(C)).

Count 6: Attempted second degree robbery of Justin Marks. (§§ 664/212.5, subd. (c).) It was further alleged that appellant personally used a firearm in the commission of the offense (§§ 12022.5, subd. (a)(1), 12022.53, subd. (b)); and that the offense was committed for the benefit of a criminal street gang (§ 186.22, subd. (b)(1)(C)).

Count 7: Attempted second degree robbery of Keith Gallo. (§§ 664/212.5, subd. (c).) It was further alleged that appellant personally used a firearm in the commission of the offense (§§ 12022.5, subd. (a)(1), 12022.53, subd. (b)); and that the

offense was committed for the benefit of a criminal street gang (§ 186.22, subd. (b)(1)(C)).

Count 8: Conspiracy to commit second degree robbery. (§ 182, subd.

(a)(1).) It was further alleged that the offense was committed for the benefit of a criminal street gang. (§ 186.22, subd.

(b)(1)(B).)

Count 9: Discharging a firearm at an inhabited dwelling (351 Victoria Street, San Francisco). (§ 246.) It was further alleged that the offense was committed for the benefit of a criminal street gang. (§ 186.22, subd. (b)(1)(B).)

Count 10: Discharging a firearm at an inhabited dwelling (367 Victoria Street, San Francisco). (§ 246.) It was further alleged that the offense was committed for the benefit of a criminal street gang. (§ 186.22, subd. (b)(1)(B).)

(4 Clerk's Transcript [CT] 979-985.)

On April 12, 2011, appellant waived any irregularities in connection with the mid-trial amendment of the information,² was arraigned, and pleaded not guilty to all counts and denied the special allegations. (4 CT 992.)

² The original information was filed on July 22, 2008. (1 CT 97-102.)

On February 16, 2011, a jury was sworn to try the case. (3 CT 642, 644.) Testimony began on February 23, 2011. (3 CT 731.)

The case was submitted to the jury on April 19, 2011. (5 CT 1291.)

The jury continued deliberating on April 20, April 21, April 25, and April

26. (5 CT 1297; 6 CT 1303, 1307, 1317.)

On April 27, 2011, the jury returned verdicts of guilty as to all counts and found all of the special allegations to be true. In addition, and despite the fact it was not alleged in the information, the jury also found it to be true as to Counts 3 through 7 (the robbery and attempted robbery charges), that in the commission of those offenses a principal personally and intentionally discharged a firearm which proximately caused death (§ 12022.53, subds. (d) & (e)). (6 CT 1322-1342; 49 Reporter's Transcript [RT] 8405-8416.)

On July 10, 2012, the trial court sentenced appellant to a determinate sentence of 10 years, followed by an indeterminate sentence of 179 years to life. (56 RT 24163-24170.)³ The indeterminate sentence included five consecutive 25-year-to-life vicarious firearm enhancements under section

³ Appellant received consecutive terms of 10 years on Count 9 (shooting at an inhabited dwelling), 50 years to life on Count 1 (murder), 26 years to life on Counts 3 and 4 (robbery), and 25 years 8 months on Counts 3 through 7 (attempted robbery).

12022.53, subdivisions (d) and (e), attached to Counts 3 through 7 (robbery and attempted robbery). (56 RT 24166-24170.)⁴

On August 22, 2012, appellant filed a timely notice of appeal. (6 CT 1465.)

In an unpublished opinion filed November 19, 2018, the Court of Appeal remanded the matter for re-sentencing but affirmed the judgment in all other respects.

Appellant's petition for review was granted on March 13, 2019.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. THE CRIMES.

The facts of the case are not relevant to the issue on which the Court has granted review, and they are summarized in the opinion of the Court of Appeal. (See Court of Appeal slip opn. at pp. 1-5.) Briefly stated, the prosecution presented evidence that, on September 16, 2006, appellant and about a half dozen fellow members of a criminal street gang attended a party in the Ingleside section of San Francisco. At some point they were asked to leave by the host. They returned with weapons and some of them,

⁴ A sixth 25-year-to-life vicarious firearm enhancement was attached to Count 1 (murder). (56 RT 24164-24165.)

including appellant, robbed or attempted to rob some of the partygoers.

Shots were fired at the party-goers by gang members who were standing in the street across from the house where the party was held. One of the shots struck and killed Zachary Roche-Balsam.

B. PROCEDURAL FACTS.

Unlike the facts surrounding the crimes, the procedural facts are crucial to an understanding to the issues raised by this case.

As noted in the Statement of the Case, *ante*, as to Counts 3 through 7, the charging document alleged that in the commission of those offenses *appellant* "personally used a firearm" "within the meaning of section 12022.53(b)" and "within the meaning of . . . section 12022.5(a)(1)"; it did *not* allege that appellant or a principal personally and intentionally discharged a firearm which proximately caused death in the commission of

the offenses within the meaning of section 12022.53, subdivisions (d) and e).⁵

Despite the fact that there were no 25-year-to-life firearm enhancements pleaded in the information as to the robbery and attempted robbery charges, the trial court, without objection, instructed the jury as if

Subdivision (d) of section 12022.53 provides: "Notwithstanding any other provision of law, any person who, in the commission of a felony specified in subdivision (a), Section 246, or subdivision (c) or (d) of Section 26100, personally and intentionally discharges a firearm and proximately causes great bodily injury, as defined in Section 12022.7, or death, to any person other than an accomplice, shall be punished by an additional and consecutive term of imprisonment in the state prison for 25 years to life."

Subdivision (e)(1) of section 12022.53 provides: "The enhancements provided in this section shall apply to any person who is a principal in the commission of an offense if both of the following are pled and proved: [¶] (A) The person violated subdivision (b) of Section 186.22. [¶] (B) Any principal in the offense committed any act specified in subdivision (b), (c), or (d)."

Subdivision (a) (formerly subdivision (a)(1)) of section 12022.5 provides: "Except as provided in subdivision (b), any person who personally uses a firearm in the commission of a felony or attempted felony shall be punished by an additional and consecutive term of imprisonment in the state prison for 3, 4, or 10 years, unless use of a firearm is an element of that offense."

⁵ Subdivision (b) of section 12022.53 provides: "Notwithstanding any other provision of law, any person who, in the commission of a felony specified in subdivision (a) [including murder and robbery/attempted robbery], personally uses a firearm, shall be punished by an additional and consecutive term of imprisonment in the state prison for 10 years. The firearm need not be operable or loaded for this enhancement to apply."

enhancing allegations under subdivisions (d) and (e) of section 12022.53, had been alleged in connection with those counts:

If you find the defendant guilty of the crimes charged in Counts III and/or IV, robbery of Bella Kizziah and Yana Peselev, respectively, and/or the crimes charged in Counts V, VI, and/or VII, attempted robbery of Ryan Williams, Justin Marks, and/or Keith Gallo respectively, and you find that the defendant committed that crime for the benefit of, at the direction of, or in association with a criminal street gang with the intent to promote, further, or assist in any criminal conduct by gang members, you must then decide whether the People have proved the additional allegation that one of the principals personally and intentionally discharged a firearm during that crime and caused death.

(46 RT 8095, italics added.)

Pursuant to these instructions, the jury was given the following verdict form in connection with Counts 3 through 7:

We the Jury, having found defendant, Vernon Anderson, guilty of [Robbery OR Attempted Robbery], And having further found TRUE the allegation that he committed that offense "for the benefit of a criminal street gang," do now find the allegation under section 12022.53 (d) and (e) of the Penal Code that [VERNON ANDERSON or A PRINCIPAL] did personally and intentionally discharged [sic] a firearm which proximately caused death to a person other than an accomplice, to wit: Zachary Roche-Balsam, in commission of the above offense, to be [NOT TRUE/TRUE].

(6 CT 1325, 1327, 1329, 1331, 1333.)

As to each of these allegations, the jury found it to be "TRUE" that "A PRINCIPAL" personally and intentionally discharged a firearm which

proximately caused death to Zachary Roche-Balsam.⁶ (6 CT 1325, 1327, 1329, 1331, 1333.)

On February 22, 2011, the day before trial of this matter was to begin, the prosecutor made his final settlement offer. Appellant would be permitted to plead guilty to second degree murder, the robbery of one of the victims, and active participation in a criminal street gang. (17 RT 3003.) At the same time, the prosecutor warned appellant in open court that a guilty verdict after trial would expose him to 60 years to life, "or more." The prosecution's offer was rejected: "Your Honor, Mr. Anderson has counsel. I have advised him thoroughly about the prosecution's offer. It is rejected." (17 RT 3004.)

After the case was tried, and the matter came on for sentencing, the prosecutor recommended an indeterminate term of 50 years to life (25 years to life for the murder, plus 25 years to life for a principal's discharge of a firearm in the commission of the murder, as pleaded in connection with

⁶ Counsel for appellant has found no explicit explanation in the record as to how the above-referenced instructions and findings came about. However, it appears that they were requested by the prosecution. "Because the People ask for findings on all of these [counts], and the jury forms and the case was charged that way, so now we need to deal with these." (56 RT 24109.)

⁷ Assuming that the court were to impose the upper term on the determinate counts, appellant calculates his exposure under this proposed bargain as 20 years, 8 months to life.

Count 1). (6 CT 1423.) As to the robbery and attempted robbery counts (Counts 3 through 7), the prosecutor asked the court to impose *but stay* the 25-year-to-life vicarious firearm enhancements pursuant to subdivisions (d) and (e) of section 12022.53: "I'm asking the court to impose but stay the .53(d) enhancement[s]." (56 RT 24109.) In addition to the indeterminate term, the prosecutor asked for a determinate term of 48 years (to be served prior to the indeterminate term), "based on consecutive sentences for Counts 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, & 9." (6 CT 1427.) This term was arrived at by virtue of the enhancements for personal use of a firearm in connection with the robbery and attempted robbery counts, and Count 9, shooting at an inhabited dwelling, and because all these offenses were committed for the benefit of a criminal street gang. (See 6 CT 1428-1429 [People's Revised Sentencing Memorandum].)

Obviously, defense counsel did not object to the prosecutor's recommendation that the court not impose the 25-year-to-life enhancements called for by subdivisions (d) and (e) of section 12022.53, but argued that these enhancements had to be stricken rather than stayed. (56 RT 24110.)

After hearing from the parties, the court declared a recess for counsel to research the question of whether the 12022.53, subdivision (d) and (e) enhancements should be stricken rather than imposed and stayed.

After the break, the prosecutor announced to the court that "based on your questions to me, I must now take a different position than what I took in my papers." (56 RT 24119.) "I think the Court must impose the 53(d) enhancement." (56 RT 24120.) The reason for the new position, the prosecutor explained, was his discovery during the break of cases including *People v. Palacios* (2007) 41 Cal.4th 720.8 As the court acknowledged, "That's certainly going to change the sentencing dramatically." (56 RT 24121.) Thereupon, over defense counsel's objection that the sentence constituted cruel and unusual punishment (6 CT 1452), the court sentenced appellant to 189 years to life in state prison, double the prosecution's recommendation made earlier in the day. (56 RT 24170-24174.)

⁸ *Palacios* held that section 654 does not apply to section 12022.53 enhancements. (*Id.* at pp. 727-728.)

ARGUMENT

THE ENHANCEMENTS ON COUNTS THREE THROUGH SEVEN, IMPOSED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12022.53 SUBDIVISIONS (D) AND (E), TOTALING 125 YEARS TO LIFE, WERE UNAUTHORIZED AND MUST BE STRICKEN; THE INFORMATION ON WHICH THIS CASE WAS TRIED DID NOT ALLEGE A VIOLATION OF THESE SUBDIVISIONS AND APPELLANT HAD NO TIMELY NOTICE OF HIS ACTUAL EXPOSURE IF HE WENT TO TRIAL AND WAS CONVICTED.

A. SECTION 12022.53, SUBDIVISION (E) REQUIRES THE PROSECUTION TO ALLEGE BOTH THAT THE OFFENSE TO WHICH ITS ENHANCEMENT ATTACHES BE COMMITTED FOR THE BENEFIT OF A CRIMINAL STREET GANG AND THAT A PRINCIPAL IN THE OFFENSE DISCHARGED A FIREARM PROXIMATELY CAUSING GREAT BODILY INJURY OR DEATH, IN ORDER FOR THE 25 YEAR TO LIFE CONSECUTIVE SENTENCE IMPOSED THEREON TO BE AN AUTHORIZED SENTENCE.

In *Mancebo*, this Court had before it two penal statutes, section 667.61 (the so-called "One Strike law") and section 12022.5, "which provides generally for a fixed-term enhancement for personal gun use in connection with conviction of a felony offense." (*People v. Mancebo*, *supra*, 27 Cal.4th at p. 738 (*Mancebo*).) The validity of the One Strike law was not at issue. Rather, the narrow issue before the Court was whether the allegation that the defendant used a weapon in the commission of the sex

offenses, used to qualify him for a life sentence under the One Strike law, was also available to be used to impose on him the ten-year enhancement prescribed by section 12022.5. The trial court in Mancebo believed that it was permissible to substitute the unpleaded multiple victim circumstance to impose the One Strike sentence and thus free up the gun use allegation so as to impose the section 12022.5 enhancement, even though the multiple victim circumstance was never "expressly" pleaded in the information. (Id. at p. 739.) The prosecution had argued successfully in the trial court that the defendant would know that he was exposed to jeopardy under the One Strike law due to the presence of multiple victims, because the counts of the information named two victims, albeit without any specific allegation that the fact that there were multiple victims, together with the allegation that one of the victims was tied up, informed the defendant of his exposure under the One Strike law. (*Id.* at pp. 738-743.⁹)

This Court rejected the prosecution's argument, holding instead that that subdivision (f) of section 667.61 requires that the circumstances giving

^{9 &}quot;Regarding victim Y., the information alleged 'that within the meaning of Penal Code Sections 667.61(a) and (e), . . . the following circumstances apply: Kidnap and Use of Firearm.' With respect to victim R., the information alleged "that within the meaning of Penal Code Sections 667.61(a) and (e), . . . the following circumstances apply: Use of Firearm and Tie or Bind Victim." (*Id.* at pp. 742-743.)

rise to exposure to the One Strike law be pled and proved and that the failure to comply with this requirement is fatal. (*Mancebo*, *supra*, 27 Cal.4th at pp. 744-745.) "[N]o factual allegation in the information or pleading in the statutory language informed defendant that if he was convicted of the underlying charged offenses, the court would consider his multiple convictions as a basis for One Strike sentencing Thus, the pleading was inadequate because it failed to put defendant on notice that the People, for the first time at sentencing, would seek to use the multiple victim circumstance to secure indeterminate One Strike terms" (*Id.* at p. 745.)¹⁰

In reaching this result, Justice Baxter pointed to the plain language of the One Strike law: "The plain wording of subdivisions (f) and (i) of section 667.61 together controls here. Subdivision (i) requires that '[f]or the penalties provided in this section to apply, the existence of any fact required under subdivision (d) or (e) shall be alleged in the accusatory pleading and either admitted by the defendant in open court or found to be true by the trier of fact.' (Italics added.) Neither the original nor the

Unlike the defendant in *Mancebo*, appellant learned of his *potential* exposure to an added sentence of 125 years to life at the time he learned of the jury instructions and verdict forms. However, until the eleventh hour discovery of the holding of *People v. Palacios*, *supra*, 41 Cal.4th 720, it was accepted by the parties that these additional sentences would be stayed.

amended information ever alleged a multiple victim circumstance under subdivision (e)(5). Substitution of that unpleaded circumstance for the first time at sentencing as a basis for imposing the indeterminate terms violated the explicit pleading provisions of the One Strike law." (*Mancebo*, *supra*, 27 Cal.4th at p. 743.)

Similarly, in the present case, section 12022.53, subdivision (d) provides for a 25 year to life enhancement for one who *personally* discharges a firearm causing great bodily injury or death. Subdivision (e) of the statute makes this personal liability vicarious. The life sentence is to be imposed on any participant in a qualifying offense, whether or not that person was the shooter. However, in order for subdivision (d) to apply to such a person, the prosecution must *plead* as well as prove the circumstance that he or she acted in association with a criminal street gang and that "any principal" in the offense discharged a firearm proximately causing great bodily injury or death. (§ 12022.53, subd. (e).)

In the present case, respondent made essentially the same argument in the Court of Appeal as it made in *Mancebo*, ¹¹ that is to say, as long as the qualifying facts can be cobbled together from the totality of the facts alleged in the charging document, it does not matter if they are specifically

See Mancebo, supra, 27 Cal.4th at p. 744.

pleaded as qualifying circumstances with respect to each of the counts to which they are intended to apply. (See Respondent's Supplemental Letter Brief in the Court of Appeal at pp. 9-10.¹²)

This Court, in *Mancebo*, rejected this line of reasoning. As Justice Baxter explained, the basis for respondent's argument was that subdivision (i) of section 667.61 requires only the "existence of any fact" necessary to trigger the one strike life sentence. However, that construction ignores subdivision (f) of section 667.61, which requires that the circumstances triggering the one strike penalty be "pled and proved." (*Mancebo*, *supra*, 27 Cal.4th at pp. 744-745.) That the evidence may have been sufficient to prove the necessary facts to be true was not enough. Substitution of

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