# In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

V.

**VERNON ANDERSON,** 

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S253227

SUPREME COURT FILED

AUG 1 4 2019

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

First Appellate District, Division Three, Case No. A136451
San Francisco County Superior Court, Case No. 206013
The Honorable Anne-Christine Massullo, Judge

Deputy

#### ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

XAVIER BECERRA
Attorney General of California
EDWARD C. DUMONT
Solicitor General
JEFFREY M. LAURENCE
Senior Assistant Attorney General
SAMUEL P. SIEGEL
Deputy Solicitor General
State Bar No. 294404
1300 I Street
Sacramento, CA 95819

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

Moreover, as addressed below, courts have not hesitated to affirm convictions and sentences in cases where the defendant had notice of an unpleaded offense or enhancement and raised no objection, either on forfeiture grounds or on the theory that the defendant implicitly consented to an informal amendment of the accusatory pleading. *Mancebo* had no occasion to depart from that precedent, because the defendant in *Mancebo*—unlike the one here—received no such notice.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Mancebo also reasoned that specifying the enhancement in the pleading was necessary to fulfill a separate statutory requirement, which directs that a defendant be allowed to "'admit[]" the truth of the qualifying circumstance in open court, if he waives his right to have a jury determine that issue. (Mancebo, supra, 27 Cal.4th at p. 752 [quoting § 667.61, subd. (i)].) That consideration does not provide any basis for holding that an enhancement is invalid in a case like this one, where the defendant has notice of the additional enhancement. In that circumstance, if the defendant chooses to waive a jury's determination of their truth, the trial court will presumably require the defendant to admit the allegations before imposing the enhancement.

## C. Because Anderson Had Notice of the Section 12022.53(e) Enhancements, Affirmance Is Proper Under an Informal Amendment, Forfeiture, or Harmless Error Analysis

Because Anderson had ample notice that that the prosecution intended to invoke the section 12022.53(e) enhancement with respect to counts 3 through 7, this Court may affirm the Court of Appeal's judgment under one of three doctrines: informal amendment, forfeiture, or harmless error.

#### 1. Informal Amendment

Typically, the accusatory pleading notifies a defendant of the charges or enhancements he will face. (See People v. Toro (1989) 47 Cal.3d 966, 973 [pleading provides "notice of the specific offense[s] charged" but does not provide notice of "nonincluded offenses"], disapproved on another ground in *People v. Guiuan* (1998) 18 Cal.4th 558, 568, fn. 3; *Mancebo*, supra, 27 Cal.4th at pp. 751-752 [similar with respect to enhancements].) But California courts have long held that a defendant may be convicted of a crime not specified in the pleading when he has notice of those additional charges. (See Toro, supra, 47 Cal.3d at pp. 973-978.) This "informal amendment doctrine" recognizes that the pleading may be "amended without written alterations to it." (People v. Whitmer (2014) 230 Cal. App. 4th 906, 919.) It reflects the general rule that accusatory pleadings may be amended at "any stage of the proceedings" for "any defect or insufficiency" (§ 1009), and that criminal judgments may not be reversed by "reason of any defect or imperfection in matter of form which does not prejudice a substantial right of the defendant upon the merits" (§ 960). (See also People v. Goolsby (2015) 62 Cal.4th 360, 367-368 [absent prejudice, amendment may be granted "up to and including the close of the trial"].)9

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The amendment may not add charges "not shown by the evidence taken at the preliminary examination." (§ 1009; see generally *People v. Jones* (continued...)

In addition, amendments may be made "expressly or impliedly." (*Toro*, *supra*, 47 Cal.3d at p. 973.) California law "does not attach any talismanic significance to the existence of a written information." (*People v. Sandoval* (2006) 140 Cal.App.4th 111, 133.)<sup>10</sup> Thus, when the trial court proceedings put a defendant on notice that he will face charges not specified in the pleadings, his failure to object may be viewed as "an implied consent to treat the information as having been amended" to include the additional offense, and a "waiver of any objection based on lack of notice." (*Toro*, *supra*, 47 Cal.3d at pp. 976-978, citations and quotation marks omitted.)

This Court's decision in *Toro* is instructive. The information in that case charged the defendant with attempted murder and assault with a deadly weapon. (*Toro*, *supra*, 47 Cal.3d at p. 970.) But the jury was also instructed on, and received verdict forms for, battery with serious bodily injury. (*Id.* at p. 971.) The jury convicted the defendant on the battery count and this Court held that the conviction should stand. (*Id.* at pp. 970, 978.) The Court recognized the general requirement that a person may not be convicted of an offense (except a necessarily included one) not charged

<sup>(...</sup>continued)

<sup>(1990) 51</sup> Cal.3d 294, 312 [observing that the preliminary hearing transcript represents "the touchstone of due process notice to a defendant"].) Here, evidence presented at the preliminary hearing supported the jury's ultimate findings that one of Anderson's accomplices used a gun during the commission of the robberies and attempted robberies, and that one of them shot and killed a victim. (See, e.g., 1 Preliminary Hearing Transcript 127-128, 143; 2 Preliminary Hearing Transcript 199-200, 228-229; 3 Preliminary Hearing Transcript 280-287, 396-397.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> See also *Whitmer*, *supra*, 230 Cal.App.4th at p. 919 [trial court proceedings may "constitute an informal amendment of the accusatory pleadings" [quoting 4 Witkin & Epstein, Cal. Criminal Law (3d ed. 2000) Pretrial Proceedings, § 231, p. 418].

in the pleading. (*Id.* at p. 973.) But it also recognized a well-established exception to this rule: a defendant may "expressly or impliedly consent[]" to being tried for offenses not included in the pleading. (*Ibid.*) In that circumstance, the defendant cannot "legitimately claim lack of notice" or argue that he was unfairly surprised by the additional charges. (*Id.* at pp. 973, 975.) Nor does it matter that the prosecution did not formally amend the information: there is "no difference in principle" between adding a new offense by filing an amended pleading and adding the charge by "verdict forms and jury instructions." (*Id.* at p. 976 [footnote omitted].) Because the defendant had notice of the battery charge and did not object to it, he "consent[ed] to the new charge," and "waive[d] . . . any objection based on lack of notice." (*Ibid.*)

The same result is appropriate here. As in *Toro*, the jury instructions and the verdict forms in this case made it clear that the prosecution intended to invoke the section 12022.53(e) enhancement with respect to counts 3 through 7. (See ante, pp. 11-12.) The jury instructions specified that if the jury found Anderson guilty of the crimes charged in counts 3 through 7, and it found that Anderson committed the crime for the benefit of a street gang, it also had to determine whether the prosecution had proved "the additional allegation that one of the principals personally and intentionally discharged a firearm during that crime and caused death." (4 CT 1073; see also CALCRIM No. 1402 [instruction given for section 12022.53(e) enhancement].) And the verdict forms for each count included a section titled "Special Finding 12022.53 PC (d) and (e)", which prompted the jury to find the section 12022.53, subdivision (d) and (e), allegation "NOT TRUE" or "TRUE" with respect to that count. (6 CT 1325, 1327, 1329, 1331, 1333.) Anderson's trial counsel discussed these · instructions and forms with the trial court, initialed the instructions and one

of the verdict forms, and confirmed that the instructions "appear[ed] to be in order and complete." (46 RT 8056; see also 45 RT 8039; 47 RT 8306-8308, 8325-8327; 4 CT 965, 1073; 6 CT 1325.)

Anderson thus had "fair notice of the specific sentence enhancement allegations" that the prosecution intended to invoke to increase his punishment. (*Mancebo*, *supra*, 27 Cal.4th at p. 747). He was not "unfair[ly] surprise[d]" by these enhancements. (*Toro*, *supra*, 47 Cal.3d at p. 975). Indeed, Anderson acknowledges in his opening brief that he learned of "his *potential* exposure to an added sentence of 125 years to life at the time he learned of the jury instructions and verdict forms." (OBM 20, fn. 10.) As in *Toro*, this Court should conclude that Anderson impliedly consented to an informal amendment of the pleading, and that he has "waive[d] of any objection based on lack of notice." (*Toro*, *supra*, 47 Cal.3d at p. 975.)

To be sure, at least one Court of Appeal has held that an information may not be informally amended unless it would provide some benefit to the defendant. (See *People v. Arias* (2010) 182 Cal.App.4th 1009, 1020-1021.) In support, it relied on *Toro*'s statement that the informal amendment in that case (which added a lesser offense than the one expressly charged) may have aided the defendant because it "afford[ed] the jury a wider range of verdict options." (*Arias*, *supra*, 182 Cal.App.4th at p. 1021 [quoting *Toro*, *supra*, 47 Cal.3d at p. 976].)<sup>11</sup> Other Courts of Appeal, however, have held informal amendments proper in circumstances where the amendment offered no apparent benefit to the defendant. (See, e.g. *Sandoval*, *supra*,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> See also *Toro*, *supra*, 47 Cal.3d at pp. 974-975 ["fundamental fairness" requires that the trier of fact be instructed on lesser related offenses when the defendant requests those instructions, to avoid the possibility the jury will convict the defendant of the greater charge because it is convinced that the defendant "is guilty of some crime but not necessarily the one charged".

140 Cal.App.4th at pp. 132-134 [prosecution could add prior strike allegation through informal amendment]; Whitmer, supra, 230 Cal.App.4th at pp. 919-920 [prosecution could add new theory of grand theft that would provide alternative ground for convicting defendant via informal amendment].) And there is no principled reason not apply to the informal amendment doctrine to the addition of greater crimes or additional enhancements—especially when the prosecution may formally amend the accusatory pleading to include them "at any stage of the proceedings" (so long as they are supported by evidence introduced at the preliminary hearing and do not otherwise prejudice the defendant). (§ 1009; see generally People v. Winters (1990) 221 Cal.App.3d 997, 1005 ["Section 1009 authorizes amendment of an information at any stage of the proceedings provided the amendment does not change the offense charged in the original information to one not shown by the evidence taken at the preliminary examination"].) Requiring the prosecution to file a written amendment to add the enhancements to counts 3 through 7 would elevate form over substance, without providing any apparent benefit to the defendant.

#### 2. Forfeiture

This Court may also hold that Anderson forfeited his claim of lack of notice regarding the section 12022.53(e) enhancement on counts 3 through 7. Forfeiture doctrine "encourage[s] parties to bring errors to the attention of the trial court, so that they may be corrected." (*In re Sheena K.* (2007) 40 Cal.4th 875, 881; see also *People v. McCullough* (2013) 56 Cal.4th 589, 593.)

This Court held a claim similar to Anderson's forfeited in *People v*.

Houston (2012) 54 Cal.4th 1186. The defendant there was charged with 10 counts of attempted murder. But the indictment failed to allege that the

attempts were "willful, deliberate, and premeditated." (*Id.* at p. 1225.) At the time the defendant was indicted, former section 664, subdivision (1) (now section 664, subdivision (a)) provided that attempted murder was punishable by life in prison with the possibility of parole if the accusatory pleading charged that the attempted murder was "willful, deliberate, and premeditated." (*Houston*, *supra*, 54 Cal.4th at p. 1225 [quoting former § 664, subd. (1)].) Despite the indictment's shortcomings, the trial court imposed the life sentence on the attempted murder counts, after the jury made an "express finding that the attempted murders were willful, deliberate, and premeditated." (*Id.* at pp. 1225, 1228.) The People conceded that the charging documents did not meet former section 664, subdivision (1)'s pleading requirements, but argued that the defendant had forfeited the claim. (*Id.* at p. 1226.)

This Court agreed. (*Houston*, *supra*, 54 Cal.4th at p. 1226.) It recognized that a defendant has a "due process right to fair notice of the allegations that will be invoked to increase the punishment for his or her crimes," and that the defendant had been given that notice. (*Id.* at p. 1227.) The circumstances that this Court found relevant in *Houston* were that the trial court informed the defendant that he was facing life in prison; that the trial court instructed the jury to determine whether the attempted murders were willful, deliberate, and premeditated; and that the verdict form charged the jury with determining whether the attempted murders were willful, deliberate, and premeditated. (*Ibid.*) Because the defendant had received "notice of the sentence he faced and did not raise an objection [to the pleading] in the trial court," he forfeited his claim. (*Id.* at p. 1228.)

The circumstances here are similar to those in *Houston*. Like the indictment in that case, the first amended information here did not comply with the statutory pleading requirements. (Compare *Houston*, *supra*, 54

Cal.4th at p. 1226 with 4 CT 979-985; see also §§ 664, subd. (a), 12022.53, subd. (e).) But here, as in *Houston*, the jury instructions and verdict forms put Anderson on notice that the prosecution was seeking the section 12022.53(e) enhancement with respect to counts 3 through 7. (See *ante*, pp. 11-12.)<sup>12</sup>

The principles underlying the forfeiture doctrine also support its application here. Forfeiture is founded on the understanding that it is "both unfair and inefficient to permit a claim of error on appeal that, if timely brought to the attention of the trial court, could have been easily corrected or avoided." (*McCullough*, *supra*, 56 Cal.4th at p. 593.) Had Anderson objected to the addition of the section 12022.53(e) enhancements in the trial court, the court could have "craft[ed] an appropriate remedy" by, for example, considering whether to permit the prosecutor to formally amend the information. (*Houston*, *supra*, 54 Cal.4th at p. 1228.) And had Anderson needed more time to prepare his defense, the trial court could have granted it. (*Id.* at pp. 1227-1228.)

Mancebo does not require a different result. In that case, the Court excused the defendant's failure to object to the trial court's reliance on an unpleaded circumstance because that was a "legal error resulting in an unauthorized sentence." (Mancebo, supra, 27 Cal.4th at p. 749, fn. 7.)

That conclusion, however, turned on circumstances specific to that case: the "One Strike" law required a pleaded circumstance to be used as a basis for imposing the enhancement provided for in that statute and also prohibited the trial court from striking the circumstance in order to use it as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> The jury here also "made an express finding" that a principal shot and killed a person during the commission of each robbery and attempted robbery. (*Houston*, *supra*, 54 Cal.4th at p. 1229; see 6 CT 1325, 1327, 1329, 1331, 1333; see also 49 RT 8407-8413; 8421-8435.)

a basis for imposing a lesser enhancement. (*Ibid.*) No similar statutory violation arises here. In any event, this Court held a claim similar to Anderson's forfeited in *Houston*. (See *Houston*, *supra*, 54 Cal.4th at p. 1228.)

#### 3. Harmless Error

This Court could also affirm the judgment below by concluding that any error was harmless. To be sure, *Mancebo* rejected the application of harmless error in that case. (*Mancebo*, *supra*, 27 Cal.4th at p. 749.) But it did so because of the lack of notice. Harmless error, the Court held, was inappropriate where a defendant's "due process right to notice has been completely violated." (*Ibid.*) That reasoning does not apply in a case like this one, where the defendant has the constitutionally-required noticed.

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